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RUTHERFORD COUNTY ATTORNEY SUSPENDED

On October 25, 2016, the Tennessee Supreme Court suspended James Carl Cope from the practice of

law until further orders of the Court pursuant to Tennessee Supreme Court Rule 9, Section 22.3.

Mr. Cope was suspended based upon his plea of guilty to the serious crime of insider trading in violation

of Title 15, Unites States Code, Section 78j(b) and Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.10b-5.

The Supreme Court ordered the Board of Professional Responsibility to institute a formal proceeding to

determine the extent of final discipline to be imposed as a result of Mr. Cope’s guilty plea.

Mr. Cope must comply with Tennessee Supreme Court Rule 9, Section 28, regarding the obligations and

responsibilities suspended attorneys.
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF TENNESSEE

AT NASHVILLE FILED
IN RE: JAMES CARL COPE, BPR #3340 OCT 2 5 2015
An Attorney Licensed to Practice Law in Tennessee Clerk of the Courts
(Rutherford County) Rec'd By

No. M2016-02144-SC-BAR-BP
BOPR No. 2016-2647-4-KH(22.3)

ORDER OF ENFORCEMENT

This matter is before the Court pursuant to Tenn. Sup. Ct. R. 9, § 22.3, upon a
Notice of Submission filed by Disciplinary Counsel for the Board of Professional
Responsibility consisting of a certified copy of the Plea Agreement in the United States
District Court for the Middle District of Tennessee, Nashville Division, in the matter of
United States of America v. James Cope (attached as Exhibit A) demonstrating that James
Cope, a Tennessee attorney, has pled guilty to a serious crime, i.e., insider trading in
violation of Title 15, Unites States Code, Section 78j(b) and Title 17, Code of Federal
Regulations, Section 240.10b-5.

IT IS THEREFORE, CONSIDERED, ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND
DECREED BY THE COURT THAT:

1. James Carl Cope is suspended from the practice of law on this date pending
further orders of this Court, pursuant to Tenn. Sup. Ct. R. 9, § 22.3;

2. This matter shall be referred to the Board of Professional Responsibility for
the institution of a formal proceeding in which the sole issue to be determined shall be the
extent of the final discipline;

3. James Carl Cope shall fully comply with the provisions of Tenn. Sup. Ct.
R. 9, § 28, concerning disbarred or suspended attorneys; and

4. The Board of Professional Responsibility shall cause notice of this
suspension to be published as required by Tenn. Sup. Ct. R. 9, § 28.11.

PER CURIAM




ATTESY AND CER1IFY

A TRUE COPY
Clerk
U.5. District Cour? '
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT dle Disttigf ojfopnassed
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE ~ By: A
NASHVILLE DIVISION puty Clok
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA )
' )
) No.,
v ) Judge
' )
" JAMES COPE, )
PLEA AGREEMENT

The United States of America, through David Rivera, United States Attorney for the
Middle District of Tennesses, and Assistant United States Attorney Henry Leventis, and defendant,
James Cépe. through defendant’s counsel, Aubrey Harwell, pursuant to Rule 11(c)(1)(A) and (C)
of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, have entered into an agreement, the terms and
conditions of which are as follows:

C is Cag

1. Defendant acknowledges that he has been charged in the Information in this case
with insider trading in violation of Title 15, United States Code, Section 78j(b) and Title 17, Code
of Federal Regulations, Section 240,10b-5. | |

2, Defendant has read the charges against him containe;i in the Information, and those
charges have been fully explained to him by his atforney. Defendant fully understands the nature
and elements of the crime with which he has been charged.

" Charpes o Which Defendant is Pleading Gy
3 By this Plea Apreement, det:cndant agrées to enter a voluntary plea of guilty to

Count 1 of the Information, charging insider trading.

Exhibic A
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Benaltie

4, The parties understand and agree that the offense to which defendant will enter a
plea of guilty carries the following meximum penalties: 20 years of imprisonment, 3 years of
supervised release, a $5,000,000 fine and a $100 special asscsamen

' 5, Defendant also understands that a defendant who isnota Unite;l States citizen may
be removed from the United States, denied citizenship, and denied admission to the United States
in the future, regardless of whether the defendant currently has lawful temporary or permanent
resident status, '
e ! d Waivers ing Ples of Gui
| Nature of Plea Agreement

6, This Plea Agreement is entirely voluntary and represents the entire agreemont

between the United States Attorney and defendant regarding defendant’s criminat liability in case
Zi{ro-cotA©

7. Defendant understands that by pleading guilty he surrenders certain trial rights,
including the following: ,

a, If defendant persisted in a plea of not guilty to the charge against him, he
would have the right to a public and speedy trial. Defendant hos a right to a jury trial, and the trial
would be by a judge r;:ther than a jury only if defendant, the Government, and the Court all agreed
to have no jury,

b, If the trial were a jury trial, the jury would be composed of twelve
laypersons selected at random, Defendant and his attorney would have a say in who the jurors
would be by removing prospective jurors for cause, or without cause by exercising so-called

peremptory challenges, The jury would have to agree unanimously before it could return a verdict
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of cither guilty or not guilty, The jury would be instx"uctcd that defendant is presumed innocent;
that the Government b;:ars the burden of proving defendant guilty of the charge(s) beyond a
reasonable doubt; and that it must consider each count of the indictment against defendant
separately.

c. If the trlal were held by the judge without a jury, the judge would find the
facts and determine, after hearihg all the evidence, whether or not the judge was persuaded of
defendant’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

- d. At a trial, whether by a jury or a judge, the.Government would be required
to present its witnesses and other evidence against deféndant. Defendant would be able to confront
those govemmct.lt witnesses and his attorney would be able to oross-examine them, In tum,
defendant could present witnesses and other evidence on his own behalf. If the wimess_cs for
defendant would not appear voluntarily, he could require their aﬁmdmw through the subpoena

power of the Court,
e At a trial, defendant would have a privilege against self-inctimination so

that he could testify or decline to testify, and no inference of guilt could be drawn from his refusal
totestify,

8. Defendant understands that by pleading guilty he is waiving all of the trial rights
set forth in the prior paragraph, Defendant’s attorriey has explained those rights to him, and the
consequences of his waiver of those rights,

Factual Basis

9. Defendant will plead guilty because he is in fact guilty of the charge contained in

Count 1 of the Information, In pleading guilty, defendant admits the following facts and that those

facts establish his guilt beyond a reasonable doubt:
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'Defendant James Cope was a resident of Murfreesboro, Tenn;assee and was a licensed
attorney with more than 20 years of experience as a bank director. Pinnacle Financial Partners
(“Pinnacle”) was a publicly-traded financial institution hépdquartered ‘ in Nashville,
Tennessee, The de:fendant was & member of the Board of Directors of Pinnacle, served as Chair
of the Pinnacle Board of Directors Compensation Committee, and had previously served as Lead

Director for Pinnacle,

In connection with'his responsibilities as a Pinnacle director, the defendant received

confidential, non-public information concerning Pinnacle and certain other publicly-traded

companies, The defendant had a fiduciary duty to maintain such information in confidence and to

refrain from using this information for personal gain,

Pinnacle maintained and enforced a policy prohibiting insider tradixig by its employees and
directors, Under Pinnacle’s “‘Statement of Policy on Preventipn of Insider Trading,” utilization of
inside information “to transact personal investment decisions is expressly forbidden.” Pinnacle’s
policy expressly stated that “it is illegal to engage in ‘insider trading,’ which is purchasing or
seiling securities when one is in possession of matarial nonpublic information relating to those
securities.”

On or about January 12, 2015, the defendant signed a certification acknowledging that he

had reviewed Pinnacle’s Trading Policy and Insider Trading Statement and certified that he would.

éomply with these policies,

In October 20135, the defendant attendeci a émnmle event at which thete was a presentation
of Pinnacle's insider trading policy. During this event, attendees were reminded that directors
have a duty to “[k]eep all inside information confidential” and that directors should “[nJever buy
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or gell stock while in possession of inside information,” Attendees were also reminded'that inside
information is “[m]aterial, nonpublic information you leam about Pinnacle.., or another public

company while serving as a director, officer or employee of Pinnacle.” .

In 2015 and 2016, Avenue Bank (“Avenue”) was a publicly-traded financial institution
whose shares were registered with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission
pursuant to Sectlon 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,

In December 2015, executives of Pinnacle and Avenue began discussions regarding a
potential acquisition of Avenue by Pinnacle, On December 1, 2015, the Executive Committe.e of
Pinnacle's Board of Directors, including the defendant, was informed by Pinnacle CEO Michael
Terry Turner that he (Turner) had reached out to executives at Avenue to express interest in a

merger between Pinnacle and Avenue,

In late December 2015, the defendant and other Pinnacle directo;s were given access to
certain information in advance of an upcoming Bxecutive Committee meeting to be held on
January 5, 2016, This material was non-public, and discussed a potential acquisition of an
unnamed bank. This material also discussed a potential price per share of $19.00 for the proposed
acquisition, On January 3, 2016, the &efendant accessed the aforementioned Pinnacle director

 materials via an online portal.

On January 5, 2016, Pinnacle executives briefed the Executive Committee of the Pinnacle
Board of Directors on a potential acquisiion of Avenue, using the afommentioned
information, The defendant was present for and participated in this meeting, This meeting
included discussion of the proposed Pinnacle/Avenue transaction, including discussion of financial

specifics of the target acquisition price of $19.00 per share of Avenue stock, On January 5, 2016,
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during the Exccutive Committee meeting of Pinnacle’s Board of Directors, all of the Executive
Committee members, including the defendant, stated that they were in favor of Pinnacle acquiring

Avenue.

On January 5, 2016, after learning the aforementioned information regarding Pinnacle’s
interest and efforts to acquire Avenue, the defendant purchased 6,179 shares of Avenue stock. The '
approximate prics per share for these purchased shares was $ 13,81, The defendant purchased this
stock on the basis of material, non-public information that he had obtained in confidence no later

than the Pinnacle Executive Committee meeting on January 5, 2016,

Defendant also acknowledges that for the purpose of determining the applical;le .advisory
sentencing range under the United States Sentencing Guidelines (hereinafter “U.8.8.G.”), the
following conduct, to which he stipulates, constitutes relevant conduct under U.S.8.G. § 1B1.3:
The defendant’s purchase of 4,000 shares of Avenue Bank stock on January 11, 2016,

Sentencin lineg Calcula
10,  The parties understand that the Court will .take account of the United States
Sentencing Guidelines (hereinafter “U.8.8.G.”), together with the other sentencing factors set forth
~at 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a), and will consider the U.8.8.G. advisory sentencing range in imposing
defendant's sentence.
11, For purposes of determining the U.S.8.G, advisory sentencing range, the United
States and defendant apree, pursuant to Rule 11(c)(1)X(C), to the following:
a. Offense Level Calculations.
i. The base offense level for Count 1 is 8, pursuant to U,8,5.G, §
2B1.4(a).
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i Pusuant to US.S.G. §§ 2B1.4(5)(1) and 2B1.1(b)1)(D), the base
oﬁ‘eﬁse level should be i'ncreased by 6 because the loss amount exceeds $40,000.

ifi, Two lovels shou'ld be added pursuant to U.S.8.G. § 3B1.3, because
the defendant abused a position of trust,

iv, Assuming defendant clearly demonstrates acceptance of responsibility,
to the satisfuction of the Government, through his allocution and subsequent conduct
prior to the imposiﬁoﬁ of sentence, a 2-level reduction _will be wartanted, pursuant to
USS.aG. § 31';‘1.1(a) and a 1-level reduction will be warranted, p{usuant to US.5.G. §
3E1.1(b). '
b, Therefore, the pirties agree to recommend to the Court a final offense level

of 13 (the “Recommended Offense Level™), Defendant understands that the offense level
a3 ultimately determined by the Court (the “court-determined offense level)” may be
different from the Recommended Offense Level, Defendant likewise understands that the
gufdelines range as ultimately determined by the Court (the “court-determined guidelines
'range") may be based on an offense level different from the Recommended Offense Level.
Agreements Relating to Sentencing
12, Pursuant to Rule 11{(cX1)(C) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, the
United States and the defendant agtee that the following sentence represents an appropriate
dispositi.on of the case:
a. The defendant will serve a probationary sentence of twenty four (24) months,
b. During the first nige (9) months of the defendant’s sentence, he will be subject to

home confinement,

¢, The defondant will pay a fine of fifty-five thousand dollars ($55,000).
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13.  Defendant agrees to pay the special assessment of $100 for count one in the

Information at or before the time of sentencing to the Cletic of the U.S, District Coutt.

resgnten igation Report/Post-S ¢

14.  Defendant understands that the United States Attorney's Offics, in lts submission to
the Probation Office as part of the Pre-Sentence Report and at sentencing, shall:fully apprise the
District Court and the United States Probation Office of the nature, scope, and extent of defendant's
conduct regarding the charges against him, as well as any related matters. The Government will
make known ail matters in aggravation and mitigation relevant to the issue of sentencing,

15.  Defendant agtees to execute truthfully and completely a Financial Statement (with
supﬁorting documentation) prior to sentencing, to be provided to and shared among the Court, the '
United States Probation Office, and the United States Attorney’s Office regarding all details of his
financial circumstances, including his recent incomé tax returns as specified by the Probation
Officer, Defendant understands that providing false or Incomplete information, or refusing to
provide this information, may be used as a basis for denial of a reduction for acceptance of
responsibility pursuant to U.8.8.G, § 3EL1, and may be prosecuted as a violation of Title 18,
United States Code, Section 1001, or as a contempt of the Court.

16,  This Plea Agreement concems ctiminal liability only, Except as expressly set forth
in this Plea Agreement, nothing herein shall constitute a limitation, waiver, or release by the United
States or any of its agencies of any administrative or judicial civil olaim, demand, or cause of action
it may have against deféndant or any other person or entity, The obligations of this Plea Agreement

are limited to the United States Attorney's Office for the Middle District of Tennessee and cannot
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bind any other federal, state, or local prosecuting, administrative, or regulatory authorities, except as
expressly set forth in this Plea Agreement,

17, Defendant understands that nothing in this Plea Agreeriient shall limit the Internal
Revenue Service (IRS) in its collection of any taxes, interest, or penalties from defendant and his
spouse,

| Entry of Guilty Plea

18.  The parties jointly request that the Court accept the defendant’s plea of guilty as set
forth in this agreement and enter an order reflecting the acceptance of the plea; the parties
understand the Court may wish to review the pre-sentence report,

Waver of Appellate Rights

19.  Regarding the issue of guilt, defendant hereby waives all (i) rights to appeal any issue
bearing on the determination of whether he is guilty of the crime to which he is agreeing to plead guilty;
and (if) trial rights that might have been available if he exercised his right to go to trial, Regarding
sentenoing, defendant is aware that 18USC.§ ?742 generally affords a defendant the right to appeal
the sentence imposed, Acknowledging this, defendant knowingly waives the right to appeal any
sentence within or below the Recommended Guidelines Range. Defendanlt also knowingly waives
tl;e right to challenge the sentence iinposed in any collateral attack, ix}cludlng. but not limited to, a
motion brought pursuant to 28 U.S.C, § 2255 and/or § 2241, and/or 18 U.S.C. § 3582(c). However,
no waiver of the right to appeal, or to challenge the adjudicatio;x of guilt or the sentence imposed in
any collateral attack, khall apply to a claim of involuntariness, prosecutorial miscondqct, or
ineffective assistancs of counsel, Likew;‘se, the Government waives the right to appeal any sentence

within or above the Recommended Guidelines Range,
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Other Terms
20,  Defendant agrecs to cooperate with the United States Attorney’s Office in collecting
any unpaid fine and restitution for which defendant is liable, including providing financial statements

and supporting records as requested by the United States Attorney's Office,
21,  Defendant agrees to cooperate with the IRS in any tax examination or audit of

defendant and his wife that directly or indirectly relates to or arises oﬁt of the course of conduct
defendant has acknowledged in this Plea }'\greement. by transmitting to the IRS riginal records or
copies thereof, end aﬁy additional books and records that the IRS may request, No%g in this
paragraph precludes defendant from asseﬁing any legal or factual defense to taxes, interest, and
penalties that m.ay be assessed by the IRS,

22.  Should defendant engage in additional criminal activity after he has pled guilty but
prior to sentencing, defendant shall be considered to have breached this Plea Agreement, and the
Government at its option may void this Plea Agreement.

Conclusion

23,  Defendant understapds' that the Information and this Plea Agreemént have been or
will be filed with the Court, will become matters of public record, and may be disclosed to any .
person. |

24,  Defendant understand.s that his compliance with each part of this Plea Agreement
extends until such time as he is sentenced, and faiture to abide by any term of the Plea Agreement is
& violation of the Plea Agreement. Defendant further understands that in the event he violates this

Plea Agreement, the Government, at its option, may move to vacate the Plea Agreement, rendering .
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it null and void, and thereafier prosecute defendant not subject to any of the limits sct forth in this
Plea Agreement, ot may require defendant's specific performance of this Plea Agreement,

25.  Defendant and his attorney acknowledge that no threats have been made to cavse
defendant to plead guilty.

26,  No promises, agresments, or conditions have been entered into ;)ther than those set

- forth in this Plea Aéreement, and none will be entered into unless memoriatized in writing and
si;gned by all of the parties listed below,

27.  Defendant's Sipnature: I hereby agree tlmt I have consulted with my attomey and fully
understand all rights with respect to the pending Information. Further, I fully understand all rights with
respect to the provisions of the Sentencing Guidelines that may apply in my case. I have read this Plea
Agreement and carefully reviewed every part of it with my attomey, I undm'sbmid this Plea Agreement,

and I voluntarily agree to it.

Date: /70@{_& %
am
=i
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28,  Defense Counsel Signature: I am counsel for defendant in this case. I have fully
explained to defendant his rights with respeot to the pending Information, Further, I have reviewed
the provisions‘of the Sentencing Guidelines and Poliéy Statements, and I have fully explained to
defendant the provisions of those guidelines that may apply in this cage, 1 have mview«_ad carefully
every part of this Plea Agreoment with defendant, To my knowledge, defendant’s decision to enter

into this Plea Agfeeme.nt is an informed and voluntary one.

S~ 2/

Date:

Aubrey ell v
Attormey fof Defendant

Respectfully submitted,

Deputy Chief
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